

1 **Interpersonal Relationship Experiences of Adults Born with Cleft Lip and/or**
2 **Palate: A Whole of Life Survey in the United Kingdom**

3
4 **Abstract**

5 *Objectives:* Previous research has suggested ~~that~~ adults ~~affected by~~with a cleft lip and/or palate
6 (CL/P) may find their familial, friend, collegial, and romantic relationships ~~directly or indirectly~~
7 impacted by their condition. Building on this prior work, ~~the aim of the current~~this study was to
8 examined the self-reported interpersonal experiences of a national sample of adults born with CL/P.

9 *Design:* An online survey was designed by the Cleft Lip and Palate Association in collaboration
10 with (University). A total of ~~207-181~~ eligible responses were collected between July and October
11 2018. Qualitative data were analysed using inductive content analysis, while quantitative data were
12 analysed using descriptive statistics and independent t-tests.

13 *Results:* Most participants reported having good relationships with family members and existing
14 friends ~~with similar patterns of marriage and parenthood~~ as the general population, yet Some
15 experienced difficulties initiating new friendships and/or romantic relationships. Some
16 ~~participants~~Others described ~~instances of~~bullying and/or discrimination in adulthood, most often
17 ~~occurring~~in public settings and/or the workplace. Participants reported lower satisfaction with
18 intimate relationships and less secure attachment ~~styles~~ compared to the general population.

19 Concerns regarding the heritability of CL/P and its impact on the decision to have a family were
20 also ~~indicated~~reported.

21 *Conclusions:* Individuals with CL/P are at risk of negative social experiences, which if not
22 appropriately addressed may impact psychological wellbeing in adulthood. The findings illustrate
23 the importance of ~~societal campaigns to raise awareness and target discrimination, in addition to~~
24 routine psychological support from childhood onwards to help individuals with CL/P build social

Commented [JA1]: Pls check if accurate and include in body of paper and Table 2

Commented [JA2]: Is there an interpretative range that can be added? IE – to have clinical rather than statically significant difference?

25 skills, self-esteem, and social confidence, and to develop mutually fulfilling friendships and
26 intimate relationships. Additionally, societal campaigns to raise awareness and target discrimination
27 may be helpful.

28 *Key words:* cleft lip and palate; adult; psychological adjustment; social experiences; discrimination;
29 romantic relationships

30

31

32 Introduction

33 Although the impact of cleft lip and/or palate (CL/P) on families and children is becoming
34 increasingly understood, there is ~~only~~ limited research into the ongoing impact of CL/P in
35 adulthood (Stock & Feragen, 2016). With a few exceptions, the majority of existing literature
36 regarding adults with CL/P has ~~also~~ tended to focus ~~solely~~ on medical concerns. Studies that have
37 explored adults' experiences more holistically have suggested that CL/P is a lifelong condition and
38 that the concerns it poses in adulthood are multifaceted. For example, two large qualitative studies
39 identified several areas of potential concern, including access to treatment, medical decision-
40 making, social and romantic relationships, higher education and employment, and psychological
41 health and support (Stock et al., 2015; Kappen et al., 2019). Additional research into the
42 psychosocial wellbeing and support needs of adults with CL/P is essential for the delivery of
43 lifelong patient-centred care.

44 Previous research has suggested that adults with CL/P may find their familial, friend, collegial, and
45 romantic relationships to be impacted directly or indirectly by their diagnosis. For example,
46 difficulties in engaging in social interaction and relationship formation, delayed emancipation from
47 the family home, elevated levels of social anxiety, and low levels of social support have been
48 identified (Cochrane & Slade, 1999; Berk et al., 2001). Further, individuals with CL/P may
49 experience negative reactions to their appearance and ~~of~~ speech in social and ~~of~~ employment
50 settings and may struggle to initiate romantic relationships (Patel and Ross, 2003; Stock et al.,
51 2015; Feragen et al., 2016). These findings have been linked to social withdrawal (Cochrane &
52 Slade, 1999), a lower rate of marriage and/or delayed marriage (Danino et al., 2005), and an overall
53 impact on adults' social lives (Marcusson et al., 2001). Previous studies have also reported that
54 adults with CL/P are more likely to be childless (Yttri et al., 2011) and ~~of~~ may find the prospect of
55 starting their own family daunting, given the potential heritability of CL/P (O'Hanlon et al., 2012;
56 Stock and Rumsey, 2015).

57 In recent years, the level of psychological support for individuals born with CL/P has increased in
58 the United Kingdom (UK); as part of the reorganisation of cleft care delivered by the National
59 Health Service (NHS; Sandy et al., 1998) and the growth of the leading UK charity, the Cleft Lip
60 and Palate Association (CLAPA). In parallel, the volume of craniofacial literature focused on
61 psychosocial aspects of care has increased; and more insight into individuals' experiences of living
62 with CL/P has been gained through qualitative exploration and subsequent recommendations for
63 standardised outcome measurement (Stock, Feragen et al., 2018). Building on this recent work, the
64 aim of the current study was to examine the self-reported interpersonal experiences of a national
65 sample of adults born with CL/P; via the administration of a comprehensive mixed-methods survey.

66

67 **Method**

68 ***Design***

69 Drawing upon previous literature, ~~an online, a~~ survey ~~design~~ was used by CLAPA in collaboration
70 with (*University*) using the online survey platform; SurveyMonkey to collect both quantitative and
71 qualitative data. The survey was also available in paper format contained within a 54-page booklet.
72 The survey consisted of 220 questions split across 12 sections. ~~Where possible, standardised~~
73 ~~measures were used.~~ An overview of survey content is provided in Table 1. The survey was
74 conducted as part of a larger programme of work aimed at improving the support available to adults
75 born with CL/P in the UK (the CLAPA Adults Services Programme). Given the volume of data
76 collected from the survey, findings are reported across a series of papers, ~~of which including~~ the
77 current paper ~~is one~~. Interpersonal experiences were defined as participants' subjective views on
78 the relationships that they have, or previously had, with family members, friends, romantic partners,
79 and members of the public.

80 ***Materials***

81 The survey was designed using current literature (e.g. Stock & Feragen, 2016) and the expertise of
82 the research team. Wherever possible, standardised measures were used. Where existing measures
83 did not cover all topics of interest, questions were written by the research team. These included
84 questions rated on a 5-point Likert scale, such as “How much do you agree with the following
85 statements? (1 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree)”, as well as open-ended questions, such as
86 “In your own words, please summarise why you feel those relationships ended”. [PLEASE ADD

87 EXPLANATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGES]

88 The draft survey was piloted with the CLAPA Adult Voices Council (AVC), a group of eight adults
89 born with CL/P. The AVC examined all proposed questions to ensure readability and that the
90 results could be interpreted in a way which would answer the question that the researchers sought to
91 determine. Questions which were unclear were either removed or amended with input from the
92 AVC. The final version was later piloted with six self-selecting volunteers (all adults living in the
93 UK who were born with CL/P).

94 *Harter's Self Perception Profile for Adults*

95 Self-perceived sociability and self-perceived competence in intimate relationships were evaluated
96 using the Harter Self-Perception Profile for Adults (SPP-Ad; Sociability subscale: Intimate
97 Relationships subscale: Messer & Harter, 1986). The Norwegian version of the scale was used,
98 which is considered more straightforward to complete than the original and replicates the same
99 factorial pattern, yet has been shown to achieve better reliability and convergent validity
100 (Wichström, 1995). All scale items were translated into English. Respondents were asked to
101 indicate the degree to which they identify with a total of eight statements on a 4-point Likert scale
102 (1 = describes me very poorly; 4 = describes me very well), where a higher score indicates a more
103 competent self-judgement. A mean score was calculated and compared to a normative data sample
104 consisting of 144 US adults aged 30-50 years (Messer & Harter, 1986).

105 *Revised Adult Attachment Scale*

Commented [JA3]: Please include interpretative ranges as possible for standardized measures

106 The Revised Adult Attachment Scale (Collins, 1996) was used to assess participants' attachment
107 styles in adult relationships. The scale contains three subscales, each composed of six items. The
108 CLOSElose subscale measures the extent to which a person is comfortable with closeness and
109 intimacy. The DEPENDepend subscale measures the degree to which a person feels they can
110 depend on others for support. The ANXIETYnxiety subscale measures the extent to which a
111 person is worried about being rejected or unloved. Participants were asked to respond to all
112 subscales using a 5-point Likert scale (1 = not at all characteristic of me; 5 = very characteristic of
113 me). High scores on the anxiety dimension characterise individuals who worry about being unloved
114 or abandoned by romantic partners. High scores on the closeness dimension characterise
115 individuals who find closeness with others easy, and high scores on the dependent dimension
116 characterise individuals who feel that others are trustworthy and dependable (Collins, 1996). Mean
117 scores were calculated for each subscale and compared to a normative sample of 68 'securely
118 attached' US adults aged 18-25 (CITE).

119 Relationship Satisfaction Scale

120 The Relationship Satisfaction Scale (RS10; Røysamb et al., 2014) was used to evaluate participants'
121 subjective satisfaction with their relationship with their current partner. Participants were asked to
122 respond to ten items using a 6-point Likert scale (0 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree). A
123 higher score indicates a higher level of satisfaction. A mean score was calculated and compared to
124 a normative sample of 347 Norwegian adults aged between 19-71 years (Røysamb et al., 2014).

125 **Procedure**

126 Institutional ethical approval was obtained from the Faculty Ethics Committee at (*University*). The
127 survey was advertised via direct e-newsletters to CLAPA's members; interviews in national and
128 local media; and posters and leaflets; and CLAPA's social media between July and October 2018.
129 Prior to survey completion, potential participants were made aware that their contribution to the
130 survey was voluntary, that their data would be kept confidential, that they would not be personally

131 identified during dissemination, and that they could withdraw their data from the study at any time
132 prior to publication. Participants were asked to indicate their consent for their data to be used for
133 research purposes. ~~A variety of question types were used. These included multiple choice, for~~
134 ~~example, “How many close friends do you have? A. 0, B. 1, C. 2, D. 3, E. 4 or more; weighted~~
135 ~~averages, for example, “How much do you agree with the following statement? I have a good~~
136 ~~relationship with my mother currently [5 point scale from strongly disagree to strongly agree]”; as~~
137 ~~well as open ended questions, for example, “In your own words, describe why you believe your last~~
138 ~~relationship ended?” Where possible, data were compared to national statistics.~~ According to
139 participant preference, surveys were completed either online (via the platform SurveyMonkey) or in
140 paper format contained within a 54-page booklet.

141 *Analysis*

142 Qualitative data were analysed independently by the first and second authors using inductive
143 content analysis. This type of analysis is deemed appropriate when the aim of a study is to
144 succinctly summarise a large body of qualitative data; and when existing theory or research
145 literature on a given phenomenon is limited (Neuendorf, 2017). First, the data were read and re-
146 read, to establish an overall picture of the data. Common themes were then inductively grouped
147 together in an iterative process (Neuendorf, 2017). Qualitative codes were subsequently discussed
148 until full agreement was reached. Finally, frequency counts were calculated.

149 ~~Quantitative data were analysed by the first and second authors.~~ Descriptive statistics were used to
150 analyse data collected from non-standardised survey questions. Since most questions were optional,
151 not every participant answered all survey questions. Reported percentages were therefore adjusted
152 depending on the number of responses received. In many cases, participants were able to select
153 more than one answer, and some added totals therefore exceed 100%. ~~Figures were rounded to one~~
154 ~~decimal place.~~ Where possible, data were compared to national statistics. Scores obtained from
155 standardised measures were compared to normative data and/or reference groups ~~where available~~

156 using independent samples t-tests. Cohen's d was used to calculate effect sizes, where values
157 between 0.2 and 0.5 represent a small effect, values between 0.5 and 0.8 represent a medium effect,
158 and values of more than 0.8 represent a large effect (Cohen, 1988).

159 *Harter's Self-Perception Profile for Adults*

160 ~~Self-perceived sociability and self-perceived competence in intimate relationships were evaluated~~
161 ~~using the Harter Self-Perception Profile for Adults (SPP-Ad; Sociability subscale; Intimate~~
162 ~~Relationships subscale; Messer & Harter, 1986). The Norwegian version of the scale was used,~~
163 ~~which is considered more straightforward to complete than the original and replicates the same~~
164 ~~factorial pattern, yet has been shown to achieve better reliability and convergent validity~~
165 ~~(Wichstrom, 1995). All scale items were translated into English. Respondents were asked to~~
166 ~~indicate the degree to which they identify with a total of eight statements on a 4-point Likert scale~~
167 ~~(1 = describes me very poorly; 4 = describes me very well), where a higher score indicates a more~~
168 ~~competent self-judgement. A mean score was calculated and compared to a normative data sample~~
169 ~~consisting of 144 US adults aged 30-50 years (Messer & Harter, 1986).~~

170 *Revised Adult Attachment Scale*

171 ~~The Revised Adult Attachment Scale (Collins, 1996) was used to assess participants' attachment~~
172 ~~styles in adult relationships. The scale contains three subscales, each composed of six items. The~~
173 ~~CLOSE subscale measures the extent to which a person is comfortable with closeness and intimacy.~~
174 ~~The DEPEND subscale measures the degree to which a person feels they can depend on others for~~
175 ~~support. The ANXIETY subscale measures the extent to which a person is worried about being~~
176 ~~rejected or unloved. Participants were asked to respond to all subscales using a 5-point Likert scale~~
177 ~~(1 = not at all characteristic of me; 5 = very characteristic of me). High scores on the anxiety~~
178 ~~dimension characterise individuals who worry about being unloved or abandoned by romantic~~
179 ~~partners. High scores on the closeness dimension characterise individuals who find closeness with~~
180 ~~others easy, and high scores on the dependent dimension characterise individuals who feel that~~

181 ~~others are trustworthy and dependable (Collins, 1996). Mean scores were calculated for each~~
182 ~~subscale and compared to a normative sample of 68 'securely attached' US adults aged 18-25.~~

183 *Relationship Satisfaction Scale*

184 ~~The Relationship Satisfaction Scale (RS10; Roysamb et al., 2014) was used to evaluate participants'~~
185 ~~subjective satisfaction with their relationship with their current partner. Participants were asked to~~
186 ~~respond to ten items using a 6-point Likert scale (0 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree). A~~
187 ~~higher score indicates a higher level of satisfaction. A mean score was calculated and compared to~~
188 ~~a normative sample of 347 Norwegian adults aged between 19-71 years (Roysamb et al., 2014).~~

189

190 **Results**

191 *Participants*

192 A total of 224 responses were collected. Seventeen participants were excluded as they had been
193 born outside of the UK (7.6%). Of the remaining 207 responses, 94.7% were completed online. A
194 further 5.3% returned paper versions via post. These data were entered into Survey Monkey by a
195 student intern and all surveys were checked by the first author. The most commonly reported
196 recruitment method was a CLAPA email campaign (44.4%). Other successful recruitment methods
197 included social media (32.8%), direct contact with CLAPA staff (8.9%), word of mouth (3.9%), a
198 leaflet or poster (3.3%), or the CLAPA website (2.8%).

199 A total of 181 participants contributed data to the present paper. Participant demographics are
200 provided in Table 2, alongside National census data where available (Cleft Registry and Audit
201 Network, 2018; Office for National Statistics, 2018).

202 *Familial Relationships*

Commented [JA4]: Please add to Table 2 the number of parents in the sample and in census; please also add education and employment to Table 2

203 To gain a broad understanding of the varying dynamics in people's lives, participants were asked
204 about their family background. ~~The majority~~Half of participants ($n = 94$; 53.1%) reported that their
205 parents were currently either married or in a long-term relationship with each other. For most
206 participants, neither of their parents had been born with CL/P ($n = 160$; 91.4%). Nine participants
207 reported having a sibling born with CL/P (5.1%) and 39 reported that another family member, such
208 as a cousin or grandparent had been born with CL/P (22.2%).

209 Participants were asked to respond to a series of statements and provide an answer on a five-point
210 scale from Strongly Disagree (1) to Strongly Agree (5). Weighted averages were calculated as
211 follows, listed from high to low: "I have a good relationship with my mother currently" (4.23); "I
212 had a good relationship with my mother when I was growing up" (4.19); "I enjoy spending time
213 with my family" (4.08); "I had a good relationship with my father when I was growing up" (4.03); "I
214 have a good relationship with my father currently" (3.99); "I have a good relationship with my
215 brothers and sisters currently" (3.85); "I know that I can rely on my family to provide me with
216 emotional support during difficult times" (3.85); "I had a good relationship with my brothers and
217 sisters during my childhood" (3.66); "I think of my childhood as a happy time" (3.66); and "I feel
218 comfortable speaking with my family about my cleft" (3.64).

219 **Friendships and Sociability**

220 The majority of the sample reported having four or more close friends ($n = 106$; 60.2%), and most
221 rated these friendships as either 'excellent' ($n = 87$; 49.9%) or 'good' ($n = 68$; 38.6%). Participants
222 were most likely to have made these close friends at work ($n = 87$, 50.3%) or secondary school ($n =$
223 78, 45.1%). University ($n = 56$, 32.4%), primary school ($n = 46$, 26.6%), and hobby groups ($n = 43$,
224 24.9%) were other effective places to develop close friendships.

225 Participants were asked to respond to a series of questions relating to the quality of their friendships
226 and provide answers on a five-point scale from Strongly Disagree (1) to Strongly Agree (5).

227 Weighted averages were calculated as follows, listed from high to low: "I am supportive to my

228 friends” (4.39); “My friends accept me for who I am” (4.38); “I am happy when I am with my
229 friends” (4.23); “I have known my best friend(s) for a long time” (4.15); “I know that I can rely on
230 my friends to provide me with emotional support during difficult times” (3.99); “My friendships are
231 mutually beneficial” (3.89); “I feel comfortable speaking with my friends about my cleft” (3.53); “I
232 regularly spend time with my friends” (3.45); “I tend to initiate contact with my friends more often
233 than they initiate contact with me” (3.02); “I make new friends easily” (2.97); and “I often have
234 arguments or fall out with my friends” (1.80).

235 Perceived Sociability was assessed using the Social Competence subscale of the Harter SPP-Ad.

236 Results are shown in Table 3. Adults with CL/P ($M = 2.73 \pm 0.69$) reported significantly lower
237 self-perceived social competence compared to the general population sample ($M = 3.19 \pm 0.61$).

238 Adults with CL/P generally agreed with about two thirds of positive self-statements. Calculation of

239 Cohen’s d indicated a medium effect ($d = 0.71$).

240 **Peer Support**

241 ~~The majority of~~Most participants stated they had previously spoken with someone else who was
242 born with CL/P ($n = 105$; 63.3%). When asked on a five-point scale from Strongly Disagree (1) to
243 Strongly Agree (5), participants reported an average of 4.22 for the statement “Peer support
244 through organisations such as CLAPA is important for improving mental wellbeing.”;

245 **Bullying and Discrimination**

246 Almost eighty-five percent of respondents ($n = 153$; 84.5%) indicated that they had experienced
247 some form of bullying during their lifetime. As an adult, 36 participants (23.8%) reported having
248 been bullied in the workplace, while 18 (11.9%) had experienced bullying online. A small
249 percentage of participants ($n = 10$; 6.7%) stated they had been bullied by a romantic partner. Two
250 female respondents (1.4%) disclosed behaviour against them which the authors would identify as
251 acts of sexual assault.

Commented [JA5]: This is an example, please add an interpretative statement – this measure was 1 to 4, so 68% agreement vs 79% agreement in the comparison sample – is this a clinically significant difference?

Commented [JA6]: To avoid confusion please be consistent throughout the paper in using the total number of respondents to calculate % - 36/181 (minus missing data) would be 19.9%

252 Thirty-nine participants (21.8%) reported that they had experienced discrimination. This included
253 being mocked for their appearance or speech ($n = 25$; 64.1%), not being presented with equal
254 opportunities ($n = 20$; 51.3%), not being considered for a job ($n = 19$; 48.7%) or a promotion ($n = 7$;
255 18.0%), and being discriminated against by a date or romantic partner ($n = 15$; 38.5%).

256 Regardless of when the perceived bullying and/or discrimination took place, participants
257 qualitatively stated that these negative social experiences had long-term effects. These most
258 frequently included: a loss/reduction of self-confidence ($n = 38$), low self-esteem/self-worth ($n =$
259 35), feeling shy, introverted, lonely, or withdrawn ($n = 28$), increased anxiety ($n = 19$), a reduced
260 trust in others ($n = 12$), feeling upset or unhappy ($n = 12$), and depression ($n = 11$). A minority of
261 participants also reported anger ($n = 8$), a lack of career progression ($n = 5$), a negative impact on
262 overall psychological wellbeing ($n = 4$), attempted suicide/suicide ideation ($n = 4$), development of
263 an eating disorder ($n = 4$), shame ($n = 4$), a negative impact on the formation of romantic
264 relationships ($n = 3$), self-harm ($n = 3$), an inability to work ($n = 2$), feeling odd or different ($n =$
265 2), an inclination to bully others ($n = 1$), and homicidal ideation ($n = 1$). Twenty-six participants
266 also stated that although these experiences had been difficult at the time, they had helped them to
267 become more resilient and develop helpful coping mechanisms in the longer term.

268 Overall, when reporting their experience on a five-point scale, participants reported that they felt
269 they were as safe and equitably treated as anybody else in their community and generally felt
270 comfortable visiting public places. However, participants frequently reported that the government
271 could do more to ~~tackle~~ address discrimination in the UK ($n = 107$; 60.1%).

272 ***Romantic Relationships***

273 The relationship status of the participants is presented in Table 2. The most common way
274 participants met their partner was through a friend ($n = 24$; 28.3%), although meeting in the
275 workplace was also common ($n = 23$; 19.2%). Online dating and dating apps were the third most

Commented [JA7]: Please be consistent in how % are calculated or if within a smaller group can provide just the n to avoid confusion (ie someone thinking 64% of the total sample was teased about speech)

Commented [JA8]: Consistency in % calculations

276 common way to meet a partner ($n = 21$; 17.5%). Thirty-nine respondents (32.2%) reported that
277 their relationship had started as a platonic friendship and had evolved into a relationship over time.
278 Participants were asked to respond to a series of statements pertaining to their views on
279 relationships on a five-point scale from Strongly Disagree (1) to Strongly Agree (5). Weighted
280 averages were calculated as follows, listed from high to low: *"I worry/have worried that I will*
281 *never find someone"* (3.53); *"I seek out people that I feel will accept me"* (3.32); *"I feel that I lack*
282 *confidence and experience when it comes to dating"* (3.21); *"I feel naïve and inexperienced*
283 *compared to the people I'm dating/potential dates in my age group"* (3.09); *"I have not invited*
284 *someone I like on a date as I have found this to be too difficult"* (3.08); *"I find the dating scene*
285 *confusing"* (3.06); *"I don't know where to find like-minded people"* (2.89); *"I feel that I am lagging*
286 *behind my age group when it comes to dating"* (2.84); *"I have entered into and/or stayed in a bad*
287 *relationship because I feel/felt that I can't do any better"* (2.64); *"I struggle with and/or worry*
288 *about kissing because I was born with a cleft"* (2.63); *"I have put/am putting a lot of effort into*
289 *dating"* (2.55); and *"I would prefer to remain single"* (2.04).

290 Self-perceived competence in intimate relationships was assessed using the Intimate Relationships
291 subscale of the Harter SPP-Ad. Results are shown in Table 3. Adults with CL/P ($M = 2.82 \pm 0.70$)
292 reported significantly lower self-perceived competence in intimate relationships compared to the
293 general population sample ($M = 3.12 \pm 0.67$). Responses from adults with CL/P were generally
294 similar to the comparison sample. Calculation of Cohen's d indicated a small effect ($d = 0.44$).

295 Participants were also asked to indicate in a free-text box why they felt previous relationships had
296 ended. The vast-majority ($n = 94$; 75.6%) gave responses that could be considered common
297 irrespective of having a condition such as CL/P (e.g. infidelity). Other reasons were attributed by a
298 minority of participants as directly or indirectly related to having CL/P, as follows: low self-esteem
299 ($n = 10$), a lack of self-confidence ($n = 3$), a reduced trust in others ($n = 2$), speech difficulties ($n =$

Commented [JA9]: Please include an interpretative sentence

1), and a lack of partner understanding of CL/P-related challenges ($n = 1$). Ten participants also reported emotional and/or physical abuse as the primary reason for ending a relationship.

Adult Attachment Styles

The RAAS (Collin, 1996) was used to assess participants' attachment styles in adult relationships. Results are shown in Table 3. Compared to a sample of young adults categorised as having a 'secure' attachment, adults with CL/P reported significantly less favourable scores on all three subscales. Calculation of Cohen's d indicated large effects in relation to the ~~CLOSE~~-Close and ~~DEPEND~~-Depend subscales, and a small effect in relation to the ~~ANXIETY~~-Anxiety subscale.

Relationship Satisfaction

The RS10 (Roesamb et al., 2014) was used to evaluate participants' satisfaction with their current relationship. A total of 133 participants reported being in a relationship at the time of survey completion (see Table 2). Of these, 121 participants completed the RS10. Results are shown in Table 3. Compared to a sample of 347 adults aged 19-71 years, adults with CL/P reported significantly lower relationship satisfaction. Calculation of Cohen's d indicated a large effect.

Starting a Family

Brief information about the heritability of CL/P was provided in the survey. The majority of participants ($n = 154$; 90.1%) reported that they were already aware that CL/P could be inherited, while 17 (9.9%) stated that they learned this information for the first time from completing the survey. Of those participants who reported having biological children ($n = 78$; 45.9%), 48 (24.1%) stated that one or more of their children had been born with CL/P. Additionally, 55 participants (69.6%) reported that the possibility of having a child be born with CL/P had caused them concern while trying for a baby and/or during the pregnancy.

The 48 participants who reported having a child born with CL/P were asked to what extent they agreed with a series of statements on a five-point scale from Strongly Disagree (1) to Strongly

Commented [JA10]: Please follow format of reporting greater detail and interpretive ranges for attachment and relationship satisfaction

Commented [JA11]: Please include a summary sentence of what information was provided in the materials section with citation of the source of the genetics info included

Commented [JA12]: This is difficult to interpret – as worded it appears that 48 of the 78 parents had children with CL/P, which is a much higher rate than would be expected (generally 4% for a parent with CL/P to have a child with a cleft)...this may be key selection factor of this sample that they are not only adults with a cleft but are in the role of having a child with a cleft that should be mentioned in the discussion

324 Agree (5). Weighted averages were calculated as follows, listed from high to low: “When my child
325 was born with a cleft I felt worried for my child” (3.51); “When my child was born with a cleft I felt
326 upset” (3.40); “When my child was born with a cleft I felt guilty” (3.28); “When my child was born
327 with a cleft I felt shocked” (3.09); “Having a child has helped me to cope better with my own cleft-
328 related concerns” (2.98); “My own experiences make it more difficult for me to cope with my
329 child’s cleft” (2.80); “When my child was born with a cleft I was blamed by others” (2.55); and
330 “When my child was born with a cleft it was not a concern for me” (2.48).

331 Participants were also asked their views on genetic testing. A total of 105 (63.6%) thought having
332 this option was important as they wanted to be as informed as possible, while 26 (15.8%) stated
333 they would rather not know and 14 (8.5%) felt the results would be too ambiguous to be helpful.
334 The remaining 20 participants (12.1%) reported they had not given the topic any thought or had not
335 been offered genetic testing.

336

337 **Discussion**

338 The aim of this study was to examine the self-reported interpersonal experiences of a national
339 sample of adults born with CL/P. ~~To the authors’ knowledge, this is the largest and most~~
340 ~~comprehensive survey of psychological adjustment in adults to date.~~—The findings provide valuable
341 insight based on a large sample into the ongoing interpersonal challenges of individuals with CL/P
342 once they reach adulthood. ~~Findings are discussed below in more detail and recommendations for~~
343 ~~clinical and community practice are provided.~~

344 ***Family and Friendships***

345 On the whole, adults with CL/P who participated in the current study reported having positive
346 relationships with family members and reported a high level of satisfaction with their existing
347 friendships. In contrast to previous some quantitative work in this area stating that adults with CL/P

348 have a low level of social support (Cochrane and Slade, 1999), adults in the present study felt their
349 friendships were mutually beneficial, felt accepted by their friendship group, were able to talk with
350 and rely upon their friends, and felt happy when in the company of friends. Social support is known
351 to have positive benefits for general mental and physical health (Taylor, 2011), while perceived
352 social acceptance has been shown to act as a buffer against depressive symptoms and appearance
353 dissatisfaction in individuals with CL/P (Feragen et al., 2010). In addition, most participants
354 reported having met another person born with CL/P. This is in contrast to other studies (e.g. Stock
355 et al., 2015) and is possibly reflective of the recruitment strategy. ~~Nevertheless,~~ Access to peer
356 support was seen as an important aspect of psychological wellbeing.

357 Despite these positive findings, adults with CL/P reported ~~significantly-relatively~~ lower self-
358 perceived social competence compared to a normative US sample, indicating that they felt
359 uncomfortable when meeting new people, questioned whether they were enjoyable to be with, and
360 perceived themselves to be somewhat unsociable. A separate paper based on the same sample as
361 the present paper (*authors*) identified elevated levels of fear of negative evaluation in adults with
362 CL/P. Taken together, these findings suggest that although adults may feel comfortable in their
363 existing friendships, engaging in new relationships may still be a cause of considerable concern.

364 ***Perceived Victimization***

365 Previous CL/P research has identified a link between social anxiety and perceived stigma and/or
366 bullying (Alansari et al., 2014). In the present study, the majority of participants reported
367 experiencing bullying at some time. While some participants felt these experiences had made them
368 more resilient in the long term, others felt that the inverse was true. The most common themes to
369 arise from these experiences included feelings of low self-esteem and self-worth, social anxiety,
370 reduced confidence, and a reduction in trust of others. Although variable rates of teasing and
371 bullying have been reported in CL/P samples to date (see Stock & Feragen, 2016), an association
372 between these experiences and individuals' long-term psychosocial wellbeing has been well

373 established (Lorot-Marchand et al., 2015; Feragen & Stock, 2016). There is also a risk that these
374 difficult experiences may impact on future interactions with others and create a cycle of negative
375 social interaction, loss of confidence, and withdrawal (Alansari et al., 2014).

376 A ~~novel and~~ concerning finding of the current study was that a significant minority also reported
377 experiencing bullying and/or discrimination during adulthood. This was predominantly found to
378 occur in public settings and in the workplace, with a minority of younger participants also reporting
379 online bullying. Examples included a perceived lack of equal educational and vocational
380 opportunities, being mocked for their appearance and/or speech, and being rejected by a potential
381 romantic partner due to their condition. A recent report by the charity Changing Faces examined
382 discrimination in individuals with appearance-altering conditions more generally (Changing Faces,
383 2017) and found a high prevalence of unwanted attention from strangers, incidences of mockery of
384 appearance-altering conditions, and a longer-term impact of discrimination on individuals'
385 educational and vocational aspirations. In a paper utilising the same sample of adults with CL/P as
386 the current study, (*authors*) found a lower level of perceived job competence and satisfaction in
387 comparison to norms. Although this negative impact on vocational experiences is not universally
388 reported (Oosterkamp et al., 2007; Stock et al., 2015), the potential long-term effect of challenging
389 social experiences and perceived discrimination should not be underestimated.

390 ***Intimate Relationships***

391 In the present study, many participants reported concerns in relation to dating and some felt
392 inexperienced in intimate relationships in comparison to their peers without CL/P. Some
393 participants also expressed concerns about the impact of CL/P on functional aspects of intimacy,
394 such as kissing. Concurrently, some adults' attempts to engage in the dating scene had been
395 adversely affected, and on average participants reported significantly lower self-perceived
396 competence in intimate relationships when compared to a normative group. Previous research has
397 also identified adults with CL/P to experience difficulties in establishing romantic relationships

398 (Patel and Ross, 2003; Stock et al., 2015) and/or to engage in romantic relationships at a later stage
399 in comparison to peers (Danino et al., 2005; Feragen et al., 2016). In the broader literature,
400 avoidance of intimate relationships and a negative impact on sexual activity has been found in
401 individuals with a range of appearance-altering conditions, such as skin conditions, facial
402 birthmarks, scarring, and alopecia (Griffiths et al., 2012; Sharratt et al., 2018), as well as in those
403 with poor body image more generally (Laus et al., 2018). Here, appearance may be considered as
404 central to attraction, and any perceived difference is therefore viewed as a barrier to the formation
405 of romantic relationships (Sharratt et al., 2018). In turn, self-esteem may be affected, and internal
406 fears of being negatively judged or rejected may develop. Nonetheless, and contrary to some prior
407 reports (e.g. Danino et al., 2005), the relationship status of the current sample did not seem to differ
408 considerably from National Census data.

409 Participants in the present study were also asked to complete measures of adult attachment and
410 relationship satisfaction, to evaluate the perceived quality of adults' intimate relationships once they
411 had been established. When compared to normative samples, adults with CL/P described less
412 secure attachment styles, suggesting that they felt more anxious in romantic relationships, found
413 intimacy difficult, and were less trusting of their partner. Some adults reported having entered into
414 unfavourable relationships because they felt they wouldn't be able to attract anyone more suitable.
415 This is particularly concerning since a number of adults reported having experienced emotional,
416 physical, and/or sexual abuse, which may be similar to the UK national rates of domestic abuse

417 (cite). No known prior studies have explored these topics in the context of adults with CL/P.
418 However, Sharratt and colleagues (2018) illustrated how adults with a range of appearance-altering
419 conditions deemed themselves to be devalued by their different appearance. In several cases, these
420 perceived deficiencies had led adults to try to compensate by cultivating other socially desirable
421 characteristics (such as relative youth), to feel "lucky" to be in a relationship, and/or to settle for
422 unrewarding relationships, as identified in the current study. Sharratt et al. (2018) describe a
423 process in which the negatively perceived defective nature of the individual's appearance shapes

Commented [JA13]: This appears to imply meaning within the paediatric literature on attachment theory that doesn't seem to correspond to the description of the measure used – please reword this or provide additional information in the methods about the validity of the measure in the context of adult attachment theory

Commented [JA14]: Please provide context of general population

424 their belief that they are inadequate and that others will reject or discriminate against them (Kent
425 and Thompson, 2002). This can lead to feelings of shame and anxiety, in addition to cognitive
426 distortions that may influence the way in which social experiences are interpreted (Kent and
427 Thompson, 2002). For other adults participating in the study by Sharratt and colleagues (2018),
428 acknowledging the impact of the condition on the relationship could be difficult and communication
429 could therefore be hindered. This could represent a contributory factor in the development of
430 longer-term relationship dissatisfaction, which in contrast to previous research (Danino et al., 2005)
431 was found to be lower compared to general populations norms.

Commented [JA15]: Consider how well this matches the overall findings you are reporting and if it may be condensed to one or two main points

432 *Having Children*

433 Previous studies have reported that adults with CL/P are less likely to have their own children (Yttri
434 et al., 2011) and/or may find the prospect of starting their own family unnerving, given the
435 increased chance of having a child with the same condition (O'Hanlon et al., 2012; Stock and
436 Rumsey, 2015). Given the relative age of the participants in the current study, as well as the
437 number of adults who were married or cohabiting at the time of survey completion (see Table 2),
438 the number of participants with children did not seem to differ considerably from National Census
439 data. Nonetheless, the majority of participants reported ~~having (had)~~ concerns about starting a
440 family. Participants whose children had been born with CL/P recalled difficult emotions at the
441 point of diagnosis, including worry, distress, shock, and guilt. In contrast to this finding, some
442 studies have reported no difference in the views of parents with and without CL/P (Andrews-Casal
443 et al., 1998; O'Hanlon et al., 2012), while others have demonstrated adults with CL/P to have
444 positive views of having children irrespective of recurrence risk (Patel and Ross, 2003). Following
445 a qualitative investigation, Stock and Rumsey (2015) suggested that the degree of concern about
446 having a child with CL/P may be considerably influenced by the individual's own experiences of
447 growing up with the condition, and the extent to which they had adjusted positively to these
448 experiences. In line with Stock and Rumsey (2015), the majority of participants in the current study

Commented [JA16]: Please include in Table 2

449 were in favour of genetic testing, but not all felt this approach would be helpful due to the likely
450 ambiguity of results.

451 ***Recommendations for Practice***

452 Participants in the current study reported some difficulties in establishing new friendships and
453 romantic relationships. Further, a portion of the sample reported dissatisfaction with intimate
454 relationships was reported, alongside insecure adult attachment ~~styles~~. Where not already
455 implemented, clinicians working with young people with CL/P could consider conducting routine
456 assessments of social integration and liaising closely with schools to identify those at risk and
457 ensure that any social concerns are addressed as early as possible. For both young people currently
458 receiving care and adults who are no longer engaged in routine treatment, specialist one-to-one
459 psychological support, useful topics for general advice from charitable organisations might include:
460 on instigating starting relationships, ~~and~~ coping with difficult social encounters, access to peer
461 support, ~~and~~ evidence-based support for tackling stigma, addressing workplace bullying, and
462 developing social confidence ~~may be beneficial~~. In order to reduce prejudice and discrimination on
463 a societal level, charitable organisations may be ideally placed to deliver targeted campaigns and
464 appeal to government, particularly if multiple organisations ~~band together~~ collaborate in their
465 efforts. Awareness campaigns to foster public understanding of appearance-altering conditions and
466 speech difficulties are also important. Finally, education regarding the causes and correlates of
467 CL/P could benefit the cleft community as a whole, in order to support patients to become experts
468 in their own diagnosis, and in turn to improve coping and health status (von der Lippe et al., 2017).

469 ***Methodological Considerations***

470 Limitations of the present study must be acknowledged. First, the survey was predominantly shared
471 with adults who are existing members of CLAPA. While CLAPA's community is considerable, it
472 cannot be assumed that this group, nor the self-selecting subgroup who responded to the survey, are
473 representative of the UK population. Individuals with cleft palate only were particularly

474 underrepresented in the current sample. Participants also appeared more likely to have a child with
475 a cleft than would be expected and this parental perspective may have a wide reaching impact on
476 how they interpret their experiences as an adult. How to better represent adults who are less
477 engaged with CL/P services and/or how to reach those who remain unaware of the services
478 available to them remains a significant challenge. Further, not all participants answered all the
479 survey questions, and therefore some data are missing. Second, survey participants predominantly
480 identified as White and living in England. However, with the exception of the lower participation
481 rate of men, a challenge well acknowledged in studies such as this (Johal et al., 2012), these figures
482 are not considerably different from UK census data (Office for National Statistics, 2018).
483 Nonetheless, several previous CL/P studies have been indicative of poorer outcomes among
484 minority groups (see Stock & Feragen, 2016), and further efforts are needed to ensure that support
485 services are applicable and accessible to the population as a whole. Exploration of the
486 psychological wellbeing and treatment needs of adults who are currently living in the UK but
487 received the majority of their care elsewhere could also be an important consideration for future
488 studies. Third, ~~and~~ in order to compare the emotional wellbeing of individuals with CL/P to the
489 general population, normative and/or comparison samples are required. In some cases, these
490 comparison groups may not be ideal, due to cultural variation and/or a mismatch in key
491 demographic factors such as age and gender. ~~However, the present study utilised normative~~
492 ~~populations that reported similar characteristics to the study sample as far as possible.~~ Statistical
493 significance should also be interpreted within the context of reported effect sizes. Fourth, although
494 participants indicated that difficult social experiences had helped them to be more resilient in the
495 long-term, the current study did not include standardised measures of resilience ~~due to a limited~~
496 ~~budget and the need to keep the survey to a certain length.~~ Work in the field of craniofacial
497 conditions has identified a range of positive outcomes in addition to the known challenges (e.g.
498 Eiserman, 2001). Although on average samples may produce unfavourable scores when compared
499 to the general population, a subset of adults may still be coping well (Stock et al., 2015). Measures

500 of positive aspects would therefore be important to include in future work in order to ensure a
501 balanced perspective. Finally, the sample size of this study did not allow for analysis of results
502 according to cleft type, gender, or other variables of interest. Previous studies have commented on
503 the challenges of analysing subsets of data even when the overall sample is relatively large (e.g.
504 Feragen et al., 2015). Multicentre, interdisciplinary, and international working is therefore strongly
505 encouraged to gain a more representative picture of the population and to move toward a better
506 understanding of holistic outcomes in CL/P.

507 Despite some limitations, this comprehensive survey provides a large amount of quantitative and
508 qualitative data on a group which has to date received relatively little attention in the context of
509 CL/P. In addition, several standardised outcome measures were utilised. Consistency in the use of
510 outcome measures is of key importance to the progression of knowledge, and the current study
511 provides information on the utility of these measures for use with the adult CL/P population. The
512 findings will be used to inform future research in this area and are pertinent to the ways in which
513 psychological support for adults with CL/P is delivered in clinical practice and in the community.

514

515 **Conclusions**

516 Individuals with CL/P may be at risk of negative social experiences, which if not appropriately
517 addressed may impact psychological wellbeing in adulthood. The findings illustrate the importance
518 of routine psychological support from childhood onwards to help individuals develop social skills,
519 self-esteem, and social confidence. Charitable organisations are also well placed to host awareness-
520 raising campaigns and lobby government. The integration of such support could be effective in
521 countering any unwanted attention, bullying, and discrimination; and helping adults with CL/P to
522 develop mutually fulfilling friendships and intimate relationships.

523

524 **References**

- 525 Alansari R, Bedoss C, Allison P. Living with cleft lip and palate: the treatment journey.
526 *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2014;51:222–229.
- 527 Andrews-Casal M, Johnston D, Fletcher J, Mulliken JB, Stal S, Hecht JT. Cleft lip with or
528 without cleft palate: effect of family history on reproductive planning, surgical timing and parental
529 stress. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 1998;35:52–57.
- 530 Berk NW, Cooper ME, Liu Y, Marazita ML. Social anxiety in Chinese adults with oral-
531 facial clefts. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2001;38:126–133.
- 532 Changing Faces. *Disfigurement in the UK.* Changing Faces; London, UK: 2017.
- 533 Cleft Registry and Audit Network (2018). *CRANE Database 2018 Annual Report.* Available
534 at: www.crane-database.org.uk. Access on: 8th March 2019.
- 535 Cochrane VM, Slade P. Appraisal and coping in adults with cleft lip: Associations with
536 well-being and social anxiety. *Br J Med Psychol.* 1999;72:485–503.
- 537 Collins NL. Working models of attachment: Implications for explanation, emotion, and
538 behavior. *J Personality Social Psychol.* 1996;71(4):810-832.
- 539 Danino A, Gradell J, Malka G, Moutel G, Herve C, Rosilio C. Social adjustment in French
540 adults who had undergone standardised treatment of complete unilateral cleft lip and palate. *Ann*
541 *Chir Plast Esthet.* 2005;50:202–205.
- 542 Eiserman W. Unique outcomes and positive contributions associated with facial difference:
543 expanding research and practice. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2001;38:236–244.
- 544 Feragen KB, Kvaalem IL, Rumsey N, Borge AI. Adolescents with and without a facial
545 difference: The role of friendships and social acceptance in perceptions of appearance and
546 emotional resilience. *Body Image.* 2010;7(4):271-279.

547 Feragen KB, Stock NM. A longitudinal study of 340 young people with or without a visible
548 difference: The impact of teasing on self-perceptions of appearance and depressive symptoms. *Body*
549 *Image*. 2016;16:133-142.

550 Feragen KB, Stock NM, Kvalem I. Risk and protective factors at age 16: Psychological
551 adjustment in children with a cleft lip and/or palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J*. 2015;52:555-573.

552 Feragen KB, Stock NM, Sharratt ND, Kvalem IL. Self-perceptions of romantic appeal in
553 adolescents with a cleft lip and/or palate. *Body Image*. 2016;18:143-152.

554 Griffiths C, Williamson H, Rumsey N. The romantic experiences of adolescents with a
555 visible difference: Exploring concerns, protective factors and support needs. *J Health Psychol*.
556 2012;17(7):1053-1064.

557 Johal A, Shelupanov A, Norman W. *Invisible Men: Engaging more men in social projects*.
558 Big Lottery Fund; London, UK: 2012.

559 Kappen IFPM, Bitterman GKP, Stock NM, Mink van der Molen AB, Breugem CC,
560 Swanenburg de Veye HFN. Quality of life and patient satisfaction in adults treated for a cleft lip
561 and palate: A qualitative analysis. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J*. 2019. doi:
562 10.1177/1055665619843410.

563 Kent G, Thompson A. The development & maintenance of shame in disfigurement:
564 Implications for treatment. In: P Gilbert & J Miles. *Body Shame*. Hove; Brunner-Routledge:
565 2002,103–116.

566 Laus MF, Almeida SS, Klos LA. Body image and the role of romantic relationships. *Cogent*
567 *Psychol*. 2018;5(1):1496986.

568 Lorot-Marchand A, Guerreschi P, Pellerin P, Martinot V, Gbaguidi CC, Neiva C,
569 Devauchelle B, Frochisse C, Poli-Merol ML, Francois-Fiquet C. Frequency and socio-

570 psychological impact of taunting in school-age patients with cleft lip-palate surgical repair. *Int J*
571 *Ped Otorhinolaryngol.* 2015;79:1041-1048.

572 Marcusson A, Akerlind I, Paulin G. Quality of life in adults with repaired complete cleft lip
573 and palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2001;38:379–385.

574 Messer B, Harter S. *Self-Perception Profile for Adults: Manual and questionnaires.*
575 University of Denver: 2012. Available at: <https://portfolio.du.edu/SusanHarter/page/44210>.
576 Accessed on 5 February 2018.

577 Neuendorf KA. *The Content Analysis Guidebook.* 2017; Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE
578 Publications.

579 Office for National Statistics (2018). *People, Population and Community.* Available at:
580 <https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity>. Accessed on: 13 November 2018.

581 O’Hanlon K, Camic PM, Shearer J. Factors associated with parental adaptation to having a
582 child with a cleft lip and/or palate: the impact of parental diagnosis. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.*
583 2012;49:718–729.

584 Oosterkamp BC, Dijkstra PU, Rimmelink HJ, van Oort RP, Goorhuis-Brouwer SM,
585 Sandham A, de Bont LG. Satisfaction with treatment outcome in bilateral cleft lip and palate
586 patients. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2007;36(10):890-895.

587 Patel Z, Ross E. Reflections on the cleft experience by South African adults: use of
588 qualitative methodology. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2003;40:471–480.

589 Røysamb E, Vittersø J, Tambs K. The Relationship Satisfaction Scale: psychometric
590 properties. *Norsk Epidemiol.* 2014;24(1-2):187-194.

591 Sandy J, Williams A, Mildinhal S, Murphy T, Bearn D, Shaw B, Sell D, Devlin B, Murray
592 J. The Clinical Standards Advisory Group (CSAG) cleft lip and palate study. *Br J Orthod.*
593 1998;25:21–30.

594 Sharratt ND, Jenkinson E, Moss T, Clarke A, Rumsey N. Understandings and experiences of
595 visible difference and romantic relationships: A qualitative exploration. *Body Image.* 2018;27:32-
596 42.

597 Stock NM, Feragen KB. Psychological adjustment to cleft lip and/or palate: A narrative
598 review of the literature. *Psychol Health.* 2016;31(7):777-813.

599 Stock NM, Feragen KB, Moss TP, Rumsey N. Toward a conceptual and methodological
600 shift in craniofacial research. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2018;55(1):105-111.

601 Stock NM, Feragen KB, Rumsey N. “It doesn’t all just stop at 18”: Psychological
602 adjustment and support needs of adults born with cleft lip and/or palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.*
603 2015;52:543-554.

604 Stock NM, Rumsey N. Starting a family: The experience of parents with cleft lip and/or
605 palate. *Cleft Palate-Craniofac J.* 2015;52(4):425-436.

606 Taylor SE. Social support: A review. In: HS Friedman, *The Oxford Handbook of Health*
607 *Psychology.* Oxford University Press; Oxford, UK: 2011.

608 von der Lippe C, Diesen PS, Feragen KB. Living with a rare disorder: A systematic review
609 of the qualitative literature. *Mol Genet Genomic Med.* 2017;5(6):758-773.

610 Wichstrøm L. Harter’s Self-Perception Profile for Adolescents: Reliability, validity, and
611 evaluation of the question format. *J Pers Assess.* 1995;65(1):100-116.

612 Yttri JE, Christensen K, Knudsen LB, Bille C. Reproductive patterns among Danish women
613 with oral clefts. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 2011;48:601–607.